FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 6/8/2023 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
6/7/2023 4:23 PM

Supreme Court No. 102076-7

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

Court of Appeals No. 83541-6-I

GARRET SCHIREMAN, in his individual capacity, and as executor for THE ESTATE OF LOREN E. SCHIREMAN,

Petitioner,

 \mathbf{v} .

CHRISTOPHER P. WILLIAMS,

Respondent.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Gregory W. Albert WSBA #42673 Jonah L. Ohm Campbell WSBA #55701 Albert Law PLLC 3131 Western Ave, Suite 410 Seattle, WA 98121 (206) 576-8044

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

The petitioner is Garret Loren Schireman ("Mr. Schireman") in his capacity as the personal representative of the Estate of Loren Schireman (the "Estate"). The beneficiaries of the Estate are Garret Schireman, Cheryl Hill, and Judy Schireman.

II. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISIONS

The Court of Appeals, Division One's March 17, 2023 opinion is attached as Appendix 1. The May 8, 2023 denial of Appellant's Motion for Reconsideration is attached as Appendix 2. The first was a unanimous decision and the second was a majority decision.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Issue 1: Do the broad and seemingly contradictory expansions of the *Daugert* doctrine, which eliminate the right to have a jury decide issues of duty, breach, damages, and facts, reconcile with the spirit of *Daugert v. Pappas* or the Washington Constitution's guarantee of an inviolate right to a jury?

Issue 2: Should Division One have vacated a unanimous jury verdict on the grounds that *Daugert* required the trial judge to decide proximate cause, where neither party asked the trial judge to decide proximate cause, both parties asked the jury to decide proximate cause, and both parties stipulated to the propriety of the proximate cause jury instruction?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Washington residents have an inviolate right to a jury. Const. art. I, § 21. However, there are times in legal malpractice cases when that right must yield. *Daugert v. Pappas*, 104 Wn.2d 254 (1985). When proximate cause turns on a legal question too esoteric for a jury to decide, the parties can ask the trial judge to decide proximate cause. That does not mean a party can demand a *jury* decide proximate cause, wait to see if the verdict is favorable, and then complain on appeal that *Daugert* should have applied to get the unfavorable verdict vacated.

That is what Mr. Williams did. He demanded a jury, moved to convert the bench trial into a jury trial, and stipulated

to the proximate cause jury instruction. He compelled jurors to spend two weeks of their lives reviewing his extrinsic evidence and hearing his arguments. It was not until the jury he demanded rendered a unanimous verdict against him that he first complained his *Daugert* rights had been violated because proximate cause turned, in part, on the interpretation of a premarital agreement. Since he never asked the trial judge to decide proximate cause, he assigned error to motions that had nothing to do with his *Daugert* rights, as well as the proximate cause jury instruction to which he stipulated.

Division One became preoccupied with the substantive issues surrounding *Daugert* and overlooked the fact that Mr. Williams was shopping for outcomes. It held that the trial judge erred by giving the proximate cause jury instruction instead of deciding proximate cause himself, even though nobody asked him to do that. After vacating the unanimous verdict, Division One dismissed Mr. Schireman's case on the merits of the

premarital agreement without hearing his legal analysis on those merits.

This Court has a strong interest in policing the effects of *Daugert*. In the thirty-eight years since it decided *Daugert*, the Divisions of the Court of Appeals have issued conflicting opinions, expanding and contracting the right to have a jury decide issues of duty, breach, damages, and even facts. The confusion seems to result in a disproportionate number of unpublished opinions, even as those opinions continue to constrict the right to a jury. This case represents the high-water mark of that confusion because Division One eliminated the right to a jury retroactively.

As the final authority on the Washington Constitution, this Court is the last guarantor of Washingtonians' rights. As the regulator of the legal profession, it is the public's safeguard against that industry. There is no body better suited to address the issue of attorneys trying to excuse themselves from the constitutional rights of Washington plaintiffs. Trial judges need

deciding proximate cause *sua sponte*. The public needs to know how and when their lawyers will be held responsible for mistakes. The Supreme Court should grant review.

The facts in the Division One opinion are mostly correct, but they gloss over a few important points.

a. The Jury's Verdict Was Not Unreasonable

i. The premarital agreement stated that Alice Forrister must pay Loren Schireman's heirs to "purchase" his interest in the Arlington house.

Loren and Charlene Schireman married in 1954. RP 866. They raised three children in Everett, Washington. *Id.* Charlene died in the early 1990's, and Loren married Alice Forrister in 1997. Ms. Forrister had a net worth of \$5,417,500 and Loren had \$678,893. Ex. 2 at 3; 18-21. Loren earned his assets and his pension while raising a family with Charlene. *See* RP 868:15-16.

On December 15, 1997, Loren and Alice executed a premarital agreement (the "PMA"). Ex. 2. The PMA stated they had already begun constructing a house before their upcoming

marriage (the "Arlington Residence"). Ex. 2 at 7. They repeatedly expressed that they wanted their separate interests in the house to remain separate for their children to inherit:

- 1. The "Separate Property" section lists the "Arlington Residence" twice, both under separate "Assets" and separate "Liabilities";¹
- 2. The PMA stated that each spouse has a "one-half-interest and one-half obligation" toward the house (Ex. 2 at 7);
- **3.** The PMA identified the house as a "joint venture," implying two separate interests instead of a marital community (*Id.*);
- **4.** Ms. Forrister made a loan to Loren Schireman to pay his half of the home loan fifteen years *after* the marriage, implying separate interests (Ex. 3); and

¹ The "Separate Property" section of the agreement (Ex. 2 at 3-5) refers to "Schedule I" for the list of separate property, where the house is listed twice. Ex. 2 at 18.

- 5. Regardless of whether the house was separate or community property, the PMA's Survivorship Paragraph detailed what to do when a spouse died. Ex. 2 at 8. It read, "[i]n the event of the death of one of the parties... the surviving party shall have a right to purchase the deceased party's interest in the subject property... by tendering to the heirs... one-half (1/2) of the then fair market value of the property..." *Id*.
- ii. Mr. Williams responded to a dispositive motion with a two-page brief and conceded the case in his motion for reconsideration.

Loren Schireman died in 2016. Ms. Forrister sued his estate in a TEDRA action. Ex. 4. Ms. Forrister asked the TEDRA court to award her Loren's half of the house without tendering anything to his heirs. *Id.* at 4. In contrast to the specific language holding otherwise, her argument was based upon ambiguous language about a loan. *Cf.* Ex. 4 at 3:3-7; Ex. 2 at 7, ¶2.

If neither party puts the case into mediation, a TEDRA petition becomes a dispositive motion, summarily decided in a

hearing on the merits. RCW 11.96A.100(8). Mr. Williams did not put the case into mediation. Instead, he responded to the dispositive motion with a two-page brief. Ex. 5. He did not address most of the points favoring his client. He did not provide any legal analysis. He just framed the dispute and then "agree[d] to have the matter transferred to TEDRA," which does not make sense. *Id*. At oral argument, he was blindsided when opposing counsel argued the merits of the PMA. RP 891:14-898:7.

After losing, he filed a motion for reconsideration. Ex. 8. It appears that he still did not grasp the merits. Instead of identifying the language showing the house was separate property, he unnecessarily conceded the house was "community property." Ex. 8 at 5:5; 5:24. He lost again.

b. Mr. Williams Insisted on Having a Jury Decide Proximate Cause

The Estate sued Mr. Williams for malpractice. On September 12, 2019, the trial court assigned a bench trial. CP 2028-2029. On September 25, 2019, Mr. Williams responded

with a jury demand. CP 2025-2027. On December 13, 2019, he moved to convert the bench trial to a jury trial. CP 2022-2024.

On November 1, 2021, Mr. Williams submitted his Trial Brief. ² CP 1044. Rather than inform the judge he should decide proximate cause, his brief explicitly stated that deciding proximate cause was the jury's "fundamental inquiry." CP 1051:18-1052:2. Nowhere did he broach the topic of the trial judge deciding proximate cause. CP 1044-1052.³

c. Mr. Williams' Assignments of Error Had Nothing to Do with His Daugert Rights

When the jury rendered a verdict against him, Mr. Williams appealed. He assigned error to the denial of his CR 12 motion, his CR 50 motion, and the judge's decision to give Jury Instruction No. 9. Brief of Appellant ("BOA") at 4.

³ The trial judge twice offered to decide proximate cause. Mr. Schireman agreed, but Mr. Williams declined. Brief of Respondent ("BOR") at 29-30.

² The trial was continued for eighteen months due to the difficulty of assembling a jury during COVID.

i. The CR 12 motion was based on an improper collateral estoppel argument rejected in Washington, California, and New York.

Mr. Williams claims his *Daugert* rights were violated when the trial court denied his CR 12 motion. BOA at 21-22. His CR 12 motion was a motion for collateral estoppel. CP 1029-1042. It mentioned *Daugert* only once in passing. CP 1036:12. Nowhere did it suggest the trial judge should decide proximate cause. CP 1029-1043. Nowhere did it even mention "proximate cause." *Id.* Except for one section pertaining to the attorney judgment rule (CP 1036-1037), his entire argument advocated for collateral estoppel. CP 1033-1042.

Mr. Williams' collateral estoppel theory has been and should be rejected. His theory is that because the TEDRA court already interpreted the meaning of the PMA, that interpretation is fixed and cannot be revisited in a negligence proceeding based upon his failure to brief the court. CP 1038-1042. That theory would foreclose any remedy a plaintiff has when her attorney elicits a negative outcome by failing to inform the Court. It has

been rejected by appellate courts in Washington, California, and New York. *See Paradise Orchards Gen. P'ship v. Fearing*, 122 Wn. App. 507 (Div. 3, 2004); *Ruffalo v. Patterson*, 234 Cal. App. 3d 341 (Cal. Ct. App. 1991); *Avon Dev. Enterprises Corp. v. Samnick*, 286 A.D.2d 581, 730 N.Y.S.2d 295 (2001). The trial court properly denied the motion in a considered explanation. RP 724:18-729:10.⁴

ii. The CR 50 motion explicitly stated the jury should decide proximate cause.

After the plaintiff rested, Mr. Williams made an oral CR 50 motion. RP 231:19-238:10. The proximate cause section began by stating the *jury's* role was to decide proximate cause: "...he must show the jury that but for Mr. Williams's argument, the court would have found in Mr. Schireman's favor. That is from *Daugert v. Pappas*, your Honor...." RP 235:20-24 (italics added).

⁴ Mr. Williams' motion was also procedurally deficient. *See also Schireman v. Williams*, 83541-6-I, 2023 WL 2645875, at *8 n. 7 (Wn. Ct. App., Mar. 27, 2023)

The remainder of his proximate cause argument merely sought to impose a subjective standard for deciding cause instead of the objective standard recognized in case law: "[t]he parties in the case nor the jury can enter the underlying court's mind and speculate as to....what Judge Bowden would have done." RP 236:3-13; but see Brust v. Newton, 70 Wn. App. 286, 293 (Div. 1, 1993) ("the purpose... is not to recreate what a particular judge or fact finder would have done. Rather, the jury's task is to determine what a reasonable judge or fact finder would have done" (citing Daugert v. Pappas, 104 Wn.2d 254, 258 (1985)).

The trial court denied the motion in another considered explanation. RP 244:24-247:20.

iii. Both parties tried to instruct the jury on proximate cause and both parties stipulated to the legality of the jury instruction given.

Division One found the trial court erred by giving Jury Instruction No. 9 instead of having the judge decide proximate cause for himself, but it did not clarify how he would have known to do that when both the parties presented proximate cause

instructions. *Schireman v. Williams*, 83541-6-I, 2023 WL 2645875, at *7 (Wn. Ct. App., Mar. 27, 2023). It gave no advice on how to avoid error in that situation in the future.

Both parties gave the trial court proximate cause instructions and both parties stipulated to the legality of Jury Instruction No. 9. Mr. Williams proposed a WPI proximate cause instruction that did not establish either an objective or subjective standard for determining cause. CP 267. Mr. Schireman raised concerns that Mr. Williams would try to confuse the jury by invoking a subjective standard during closing argument. RP 488:15-489:9.5 Mr. Schireman asked for Jury Instruction No. 9 because it explicitly set an objective standard based on *Brust* and *Daugert*.6 CP 291. The language of that instruction comes directly from Division One's decision in *Brust*, 70 Wn. App. at 293 ("the jury's task is to determine what a reasonable judge or

⁵ For additional briefing why that instruction was necessary, please see BOR at 26-27.

⁶ Previously titled, "Jury Instruction No. 13" in the Report of Proceedings

fact finder would have done"). The trial judge asked Mr. Williams about the *Brust* instruction, "is it an incorrect statement of the law, though?" RP 488:9-10. Mr. Williams' counsel responded, "I would say no, your Honor..." RP 488:11-12. Citing Mr. Williams' stipulation, the trial court gave Jury Instruction No. 9. RP 490:21-491:14.

V. ARGUMENT

- a. This Court Should Grant Discretionary Review to Resolve Conflicts and Problems Developed Within Daugert Jurisprudence
 - i. The Divisions of the Court of Appeals conflict with *Daugert*, conflict with each other, and conflict with their own case law.

The Washington State Constitution holds, "[t]he right of trial by jury shall remain inviolate." Const. art. I, § 21. The right to a jury is the only inviolate right in the Washington Constitution.

Daugert v. Pappas found a narrow exception to that right.

In that case, proximate cause turned on the issue of whether the

Supreme Court would have granted certification and given a

favorable ruling but for the malpractice. *Daugert*, 104 Wn.2d at 255–56. The Court reasoned, "a judge is in a much better position to make these determinations." *Id.* at 258–59.

Since *Daugert* was decided, the Divisions of the Court of Appeals have issued conflicting language regarding when and how to apply *Daugert*. They disagree about whether to eliminate the right to a jury on issues of duty, breach, damages, and even facts. They disagree about whether to do so when the issues turn on any legal issue, a purely legal issue, or a legal issue requiring special expertise.

Division One has two lines of differing jurisprudence. One year after *Daugert* was decided, Division One began a line of case law eliminating the right to a jury on issues of duty and breach. *Halvorsen v. Ferguson*, 46 Wn. App. 708, 712-713 (Div. 1, 1986) ("Although questions of negligence and proximate causation are usually for the jury... the initial determination, reserved solely for the court, is whether the attorney erred"); *see also Hager v. Law Offices of Bruce W. Hilyer*, *P.S.*, 52577-8-I,

2004 WL 1988086, at *5 (Wn. Ct. App., Sept. 7, 2004) (unpublished opinion) ("A determination of whether an attorney erred regarding a legal matter is a question of law for the judge."); *Taylor v. Goddard*, 49164-4-I, 2002 WL 31058539, at *3 (Wn. Ct. App., Sept. 16, 2002) (unpublished opinion).

In contrast, Brust v. Newton seemed to limit Daugert by holding that juries can decide uncomplicated legal questions. In that case, the trial court took the issues of proximate cause and damages away from the jury because they turned on 1) whether a premarital agreement was enforceable, and 2) which damages formula to use. Brust, 70 Wn. App. at 288-289. Reversing, Division One distinguished that case from *Daugert*: "neither the damages determination nor the proximate cause issue raises a comparable need to engage in an analysis of the law." *Id.* at 292. Furthermore, it gave explicit instructions on how to decide proximate cause in similar cases. *Id.* at 293 ("the jury's task is to determine what a reasonable judge or fact finder would have done" (italics added)). However, in 2018, Division One appeared to hold that any legal analysis whatsoever converts cause-in-fact into a question of law. *Rabbage v. Lorella*, 5 Wn. App. 2d 289, 296 (Div. 1, 2018) ("this is a question of cause in fact, but because it requires legal analysis, it is appropriately decided as a matter of law...").

Division Two has followed the *Brust* model by maintaining the right to a jury unless "special expertise" is required to decide a legal issue. *Nielson v. Eisenhower & Carlson*, 100 Wn. App. 584, 594 (Div. 2, 2000). It has explicitly held the jury can decide some questions of law. *Hipple v. McFadden*, 161 Wn. App. 550, 557-561 (Div. 2, 2011) (holding that the jury could decide whether the continuous-representation rule and discovery rule tolled the statute of limitations).

Division Three holds polarized positions. Until recently, Lavigne v. Chase, Haskell, Hayes & Kalamon, P.S., 112 Wn. App. 677 (Div. 3, 2002) held the right to have a jury decide proximate cause should be denied only when it "involves a pure matter of law." *Id.* at 683. However, in 2016, Division Three held

that the judge is the "trier-of-fact" and must decide "the case" when there are *any* underlying legal issues. *Slack v. Luke*, 192 Wn. App. 909, 916-918 (Div. 3, 2016) ("the judge is trier-of-fact when the underlying case within a case presents a legal issue"; "[w]here the underlying cause of action presents a legal question, a judge must decide the case rather than a jury").

Furthermore, it seems that the confusion is leading to an increase in unpublished opinions, even as those opinions continue expanding *Daugert*. In Division One, where most legal malpractice claims are filed, seven of the last ten legal malpractice opinions involving *Daugert* were unpublished. *See generally Schireman*, 2023 WL 2645875; *Eskridge v. Fletcher*, 78013-1-I, 2019 WL 2578624 (Wn. Ct. App., June 24, 2019); *Ma v. Robison*, 78537-1-I, 2019 WL 2422119 (Wn. Ct. App., June 10, 2019); *Kevin F. v. Skinner & Saar*, *P.S.*, 77516-2-I, 2019 WL 355725 (Wn. Ct. App., Jan. 28, 2019); *Butler v. Thomsen*, 76536-1-I, 2018 WL 6918832 (Wn. Ct. App., Dec. 31, 2018); *Munoz v. Bean*, 72794-0-I, 2016 WL 885043 (Wn. Ct. App., Mar. 7, 2016);

and *Beck v. Grafe*, 67641-5-I, 2013 WL 1460555 (Wn. Ct. App., Apr. 8, 2013).

ii. Daugert poses other problems that have gone unresolved.

Daugert also poses problems this Court may not have contemplated in 1985.

Impracticality of Counterfactual Analysis: Proximate cause in a legal malpractice case turns on whether the plaintiff would have been victorious but for the negligence. That requires the fact-finder to hypothesize about a counterfactual scenario in which the negligence did not occur. However, that scenario does not end with a single legal decision. There are numerous legal decisions that would have been made in the counterfactual case between the moment of negligence and the plaintiff's counterfactual victory. If the trial judge is expected to inventory all those legal questions and decide each, that is not made clear in the case law. Should she decide every counterfactual motion to compel, summary judgment motion, motion in limine, motion to admit evidence, that would have been raised? If so, it seems

like the defendant could burden the analysis by exaggerating the number of motions and appeals she would have filed.

Pits Judges Against One Another: Mr. Williams repeatedly tried to pit the trial judge against the TEDRA judge by reminding him that allowing the case to proceed would be an insult to the TEDRA judge's intelligence and legacy. See, e.g., CP 1038 ("Judge Bowden would magically have transformed his opinion and ruled in favor of Schireman if only Judge Bowden had been smart enough to figure out this theory") (italics in original); see also CP 1042.

The reality is that any time a plaintiff brings a malpractice claim for failure to brief a judge, he or she is necessarily implying the judge in the underlying case made the wrong decision. Since legal malpractice claims are usually filed in the same county where the malpractice occurred, asking the trial judge to decide proximate cause means asking her to decide her colleague ruled erroneously. While most judges are not susceptible to such prejudice, Mr. Williams' relentless commitment to that theme

indicated he thought others are. In contrast, a jury is less likely to feel the same fidelity to the judge in the underlying action.

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