FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 6/22/2023 11:29 AM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

No. 102076-7

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

CHRISTOPHER P. WILLIAMS,

Respondent,

v.

GARRET SCHIREMAN, in his individual capacity, and as executor for THE ESTATE OF LOREN E. SCHIREMAN,

Petitioners.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Suzanne Michael WSBA #14072 Ryan R. Jones WSBA #52566 Fisher Phillips LLP 1700 Seventh Avenue Suite 2200 Seattle, WA 98101 (206) 682-2308 Philip A. Talmadge WSBA #6973 Talmadge/Fitzpatrick 2775 Harbor Avenue SW Third Floor, Suite C Seattle, WA 98126 (206) 574-6661

Attorneys for Respondent

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

attorney's mishandling of the claim. *Id.* at 236.

While the "trial within a trial" is usually for the jury, this Court has held that the issue is for the court where resolution of questions of law are necessary to determine whether a plaintiff would have fared better but for the alleged negligence are required. Daugert, supra (failure to timely file petition for review to Supreme Court); Brust v. Newton, 70 Wn. App. 286, 852 P.2d 1092 (1993), review denied, 123 Wn.2d 1010 (1994) (negligence in drafting a prenuptial agreement was a question of fact for the jury); Nielson v. Eisenhower & Carlson, 100 Wn. App. 584, 594, 999 P.2d 42, review denied, 141 Wn.2d 1016 (2000) (reaffirming the distinction in Brust between fact questions in legal malpractice action that are for the jury and questions of law requiring legal expertise that are for the court; legal effect of settlement for lesser amount due to concerns regarding reversal on appeal was for the court). This exception to the "trial within a trial" includes cases involving conduct that purportedly violates the Rules of Professional Conduct, which is a question of law in Washington. *Arden v. Forsberg & Umlauf, P.S.*, 189 Wn. 2d 315, 323, 402 P.3d 245 (2017).

Schireman contends that *Daugert's* treatment of the "trial within a trial" aspect of the causation element of a legal malpractice claim is somehow unclear. Pet. at 14-19. But that is not true. The line of demarcation is clear - Questions of fact are for the jury; questions of law on whether a plaintiff would have fared better but for the attorney's alleged negligence are for the court. A jury cannot make a legal decision, as this Court ruled in *Daugert*. *Id*. Courts, not juries, must decide legal questions because while jurors properly engage in their constitutional fact finding role, courts are better equipped to resolve legal issues. *Brust*, 70 Wn. App. at 290-91 ("questions of whether an appellate court would have granted review and, if so, whether its ruling would have been favorable to the appellant, necessarily involved analysis of the relevant law and the RAP, the proximate cause issue in that case required special expertise and was therefore a question of law for the court."). Nielson, 100 Wn. App. at 594;

Lavigne v. Chase, Haskell, Hayes & Kalamon, P.S., 112 Wn. App. 677, 683, 50 P.3d 306 (2002).

Indeed, the cases cited by Schireman for his assertion that courts allegedly have difficulty applying *Daugert*, pet. at 14-19, demonstrate that Washington courts have no such trouble.⁶ In fact, Schireman acknowledges that all three divisions of the Court of Appeals fully appreciated that in legal malpractice

⁶ Schireman improperly cites unpublished opinions in Taylor v. Goddard, 113 Wn. App. 1039, 2002 WL 31058539 (2002), review denied, 149 Wn.2d 1011 (2003), and Hager v. Law Offices of Bruce W. Hilyer P.S., 123 Wn. App. 1011, 2004 WL 1988086 (2004), review denied, 154 Wn.2d 1017 (2005). Pet. at 15-16. See GR 14.1(a). But those cases demonstrate no difficulty on the part of Division I in understanding the difference between a question of fact for the jury and a question of law for the court. The same is true as to *Rabbage v. Lorella*, 5 Wn. App. 2d 289, 426 P.3d 768 (2018) (judge's decision to vacate dissolution decree is question that required legal analysis). Nor was Division III confused by this rule in *Slack v. Luke*, 192 Wn. App. 909, 370 P.3d 49 (2016) (dismissal of a WLAD claim for insufficiency of evidence was for court). Division II correctly applied the distinction in *Hipple v. McFadden*, 161 Wn. App. 550, 255 P.3d 730, review denied, 172 Wn.2d 1009 (2011) as to the statute of limitations precisely because the application of the statute of limitations is a fact question in Washington.

actions legal issues are for the court, while factual matters are for the jury to analyze. Pet. at 15-18.

Schireman's comment, pet. at 18-19, that *Daugert* has prompted unpublished opinions is true, but for a reason he fails to appreciate. Unpublished opinions are often the result where the Court of Appeals is applying clear-cut legal principles to a set of facts. That is exactly what Division I's opinion here represents.

Ultimately, the distinction made by this Court in *Daugert* only makes sense. Juries are not equipped to decide legal issues like the interpretation of a contract or the significance of a notice of appeal, as in *Daugert*. In effect, Schireman wanted a jury to decide if Judge Bowden got the interpretation of the PM correct. Here, the jury was left to their own devices to determine the consequences of whether Schireman's contractual interpretation, including his esoteric "asset" theory was correct (it is not) and the effect that would have had as a matter of law on Judge Bowden's characterization of the Cambridge house. Such purely

legal questions *require* legal knowledge and expertise to answer. An expert at trial cannot "train" the jury to answer these questions;⁷ rather, they must be reserved for the court with its legal training and experience.

The central question at issue in this case involves pure questions of law that require specific legal expertise to address. *Brust*, 70 Wn. App. at 291-92; *Daugert*, 104 Wn.2d at 258-59. Schireman nowhere disputes that the interpretation of the PM, a contract, was a legal question for the court. Nor could he. First, the characterization of property as community or separate property is a *question of law*. Op. at 13 (citing *Matter of Marriage of Watanabe*, 199 Wn.2d 342, 348-49, 506 P.3d 630 (2022)): "The characterization of property is reviewed de novo as a question of law." Further, contract interpretation is generally a *question of law*. Op. at 14. *See also, Int'l Marine Underwriters*

⁷ The risks of expecting an expert to "educate" the jury on these questions was a factor in this case where Schireman presented the jury with short and misleading excerpts from case opinions and non-authoritative sources. CP 204; RP 106-07.

v. ABCD Marine, LLC, 179 Wn.2d 274, 282, 313 P.3d 395 (2013) ("Contract interpretation is a matter of law"). Finally, interpretation of a will is a question of law. Op. at 13 (citing In re Estate of Little, 9 Wn. App. 2d 262, 275, 444 P.3d 23 (2019)). See also, In Estate of Ellstrom v. Ellstrom-Bauer, 9 Wn. App. 2d 1020, 2019 WL 2423343 (2019) at *2 ("The interpretation of a will or trust instrument is a question of law that we review de novo."). The PM's interpretation ultimate and the characterization of the Cambridge house are questions of law upon which Schireman's lawsuit hinged, as Division I observed. Op. at 13-14.

Illustrative of the problematic nature of Schireman's argument that a jury could decide the legal questions at stake in this case was Instruction 9. Instruction 9 erroneously instructed the jury to not only decide proximate cause but also "decide what a reasonable judge would have done but for the Defendant's negligence." CP 262. Instruction 9 was error because it was misleading and prejudicial to Williams, and contrary to well-

established principles in Washington law. Anfinson v. FedEx Ground Package Sys., Inc., 174 Wn.2d 851, 860, 281 P.3d 289 (2012); see also, Spencer, 6 Wn. App. 2d at 787–88. Instruction 9 misstated the law, relying on Schireman's flatly erroneous treatment of language from *Brust*. Pet. at 13-14. In general terms, instructions based on language from a case are often suspect. Turner v. City of Tacoma, 72 Wn.2d 1029, 1034, 435 P.2d 927 (1967) ("That we may have used certain language in an opinion does not mean that it can properly be incorporated into a jury instruction."). That is clearly true here. Division I's statement in *Brust* that in a malpractice action "the jury's task is to determine what a reasonable judge or fact finder would have done," 70 Wn. App. at 293, when viewed in the opinion's context, was meant to convey that for purposes of the "trial within a trial," a jury decides the case on the merits sans the malpractice committed by the lawyer that affected the judge's or jury's decision as the fact finder. Indeed, the citation for the court's statement is to *Daugert* and its parenthetical for the citation to *Daugert* was "the second trier of fact is asked to decide what a reasonable fact finder would have done."

In any event, juries should not be second-guessing trial court legal rulings, deciding what a "reasonable judge" would have done. If Schireman was aggrieved by Judge Bowden's legal analysis of the PM, he should have appealed, but did not. Division I correctly rejected the basis for Instruction 9. Op. at 15.

Finally, Schireman offers a baseless series of "observations" about *Daugert*, as applied here, and a "solution." Pet. at 19-23.8 Schireman's "musings" are perhaps fodder for a law review opinion piece, but do not address the criteria of RAP 13.4(b). Division I's opinion was fully consistent with *Daugert* and Court of Appeals opinions applying it. Review is not merited.

(2) <u>Williams Appropriately Preserved the *Daugert*</u> Issue for Division I's Review

⁸ For example, Schireman's scattershot petition even seems to argue for the adoption of the federal *Daubert* test for the admission of expert testimony. Pet. at 22-23.

Schireman attempts to argue that Williams somehow did not preserve the issue of whether the interpretation of the PM was a legal issue for the court as his second issue for this Court. Pet. at 2. Not only is such an argument not the basis for this Court's review under RAP 13.4(b), it is flatly *false*, as Division I itself observed. Op. at 11.

This Court has provided a liberal standard for error preservation. In the context of the necessary objection under CR 51(f) to preserve an instructional error for review, for example, this Court has held that the touchstone for such error preservation is that the trial court is apprised of the potential error and it is thereby afforded the opportunity to remedy that potential error. *Washburn v. City of Federal Way*, 178 Wn.2d 732, 746-47, 310 P.3d 1275 (2013). There is little question here that the trial court was fully apprised of the potential error of submitting causation to the jury, or that it had the opportunity to avoid the error it then committed.

As noted supra, Williams filed a CR 12(h) motion prior to

trial that raised the question of whether the jury could decide an issue of law. Williams also argued a CR 50 motion. RP 231-47. The latter was the basis for Division I's review. Op. at 11. Williams objected to Instruction 9. RP 564-66.

Schireman's false implication that Williams did not raise the *Daugert* issue below or "manipulated" the process is not a basis for review under RAP 13.4(b), and should be rejected by this Court in any event as simply wrong on those facts.

(3) <u>Division I Correctly Ruled that Schireman's Interpretation of the PM Was Simply Wrong</u>

Missing from Schireman's petition is any analysis of Division I's interpretation of the PM, an analysis concurring with that of Judge Bowden. Op. at 13-17. Because Judge Bowden and Division I were correct that the PM unambiguously made the

⁹ Division I expressed its displeasure with the CR 12(h) motion as a belated CR 12(b)(6) motion. Op at 11 n.7. There is no doubt, though, that the issue was surfaced pre-trial by that motion, and clearly after Schireman rested by Williams' CR 50(a) motion, and when the jury was instructed in Williams' objections to Instruction 9.

Cambridge House community property that Loren conveyed to Alice by his will, Schireman could not prove that any alleged negligence by Williams was a proximate cause of any harm to him personally or to Loren's Estate.

Below, Schireman offered an elaborate interpretation of the PM's language, based on the last antecedent rule¹⁰ and his expert's "assets" theory, that he now seemingly abandons. *See*, *e.g.*, br. of resp't at 30-45.¹¹ That interpretation defied the express

as a doctrine of interpretation. *State v. Bunker*, 169 Wn.2d 571, 578, 238 P.3d 487 (2010) (refusing to apply the last antecedent rule); *City of Spokane v. County of Spokane*, 158 Wn.2d 661, 673, 146 P.3d 893 (2006). *Matter of Marriage of Cardwell*, 16 Wn. App. 2d 90, 99-100, 479 P.3d 1188 (2021) (stating Washington courts have "question[ed] [the rule's] validity."); *PeaceHealth St. Joseph Medical Center v. Department of Revenue*, 196 Wn.2d 1, 10, 468 P.3d 1056 (2020) (this Court opted to ignore applying the last antecedent rule in the course of statutory interpretation).

¹¹ That "assets" theory provides that where a party has a promissory note from a deceased spouse regarding a loan they provided to the decedent, the loan somehow morphs into a "community asset." Schireman's expert, Duncan Connelly, had not encountered this novel theory. RP 983-84. Williams' well-qualified expert described the theory as making "no sense." RP

and unambiguous terms of the PM, as both Judge Bowden and Division I determined.

When two senior retired adults with separate property and grown children from prior marriages get married, they often ensure that their children receive whatever assets they wish to bestow upon them at their demise, and that their surviving spouse receive whatever assets they wish that person to receive. The PM

^{399.} In any event, the attorney judgment rule forecloses a malpractice claim; that rule forecloses a malpractice claim if an attorney appropriately employs her/his judgment on trial tactics. An attorney need not present a novel theory. Halvorsen v. Ferguson, 46 Wn. App. 708, 721-22, 735 P.2d 675 (1986), review denied, 108 Wn.2d 1008 (1987), (court upheld the dismissal of a legal malpractice claim where the plaintiff's expert opinion was predicated on the prior counsel failing to raise a novel theory); Griswold v. Kilpatrick, 107 Wn. App. 757, 760, 27 P.3d 246 (2001) (upholding dismissal where plaintiff offered "speculative and conclusory" expert witness testimony); Clark County Fire Dist. No. 5 v. Bullivant Houser Bailey P.C., 180 Wn. App. 689, 701-04, 324 P.3d 743, review denied, 181 Wn.2d 1008 (2014) (adopts attorney judgment rule); Dang v. Floyd, Pflueger, & Ringer, P.S., 24 Wn. App. 2d 145, 518 P.3d 671 (2022), review denied, 200 Wn.2d 1032 (2023) (in upholding summary judgment for attorney, court discusses attorney judgment rule and causation). And, again, Williams presented the essence of this argument to Judge Bowden, Ex. 8, who did not adopt it.

here made provision for the disposition of the Cambridge house under either of two scenarios – one in which Loren and Alice married and one in which they did not. CP 171-72. The work started on the house before they married. They needed to agree on its status and did so in the PM. It was entirely logical that where Alice and Loren married, the Cambridge house they built together would become community property upon that marriage, and if either of them had been required to pay more than the other, the loan would be secured by a promissory note to be paid at their demise from their separate property. That's what the PM here did.

Division I's opinion, echoing Judge Bowden's analysis, unambiguously provided that the Cambridge house was community property under the PM and was conveyed to Alice.

Op. at 15-17.

¹² "In the event of the parties' marriage, this asset [the Cambridge house] thereafter will be considered to be a community asset." CP 172.

Schireman failed to show with clear and convincing evidence that the correct characterization of the Cambridge house was as Loren's separate property. *In re Marriage of Mueller*, 140 Wn. App. 498, 504, 167 P.3d 568 (2007). But of course, even if he could make a legitimate argument to that effect under the PM, his remedy was to appeal, not sue his lawyer because Judge Bowden allegedly "got it wrong." Review is not merited. RAP 13.4(b).

D. CONCLUSION

Division I's unpublished opinion correctly applied this Court's precedent that this case should have been summarily dismissed before trial because *legal* issues were at issue. Division I correctly resolved the legal issue—the interpretation of the PM—as had Judge Bowden.

Because Schireman fails to present any basis under RAP 13.4(b) for review, this Court should deny review, upholding Division I's reversal of the judgment. Costs on appeal should be awarded to Williams.

This document contains 4,419 words, excluding the parts of the document exempted from the word count by RAP 18.17.